
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KAREN HUDES,

Plaintiff,

v.

INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND
DEVELOPMENT, etal.,

Defendants.

) Civil Action No. 10-1444 RMC

j

PLAINTIFF'S MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITIES IN JOINT OPPOSITION TO

THE DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS AND SEVER

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to protect Plaintiff from retaliation for informing the US

Congress of violations of the securities laws and the Articles of Agreement of the International

Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("IBRD") that were harming the IBRD, its members

and bondholders, including Plaintiff.

A. Legal Framework. "After a series of celebrated accounting debacles, Congress

enacted the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley), 116 Stat. 745. Among other

measures, Sarbanes-Oxley introduced tighter regulation of the accounting industry under a new

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board." See Free Enterprise Fund v. Public Co.

Accounting Oversight Bd, 130 S.Ct. 3138 (2010). "Recognizing the extreme urgency of

restoring confidence, a foundation of the Nation's economy, Congress acted decisively to pass

the landmark Sarbanes-Oxley Act, overhauling the regulation of public accounting, substantially



expanding the scope and quality of corporate disclosures, and improving corporate governance."1

But the financial crisis of 2008, leading to a loss of 8 million jobs in the United States

alone, further undermined confidence. In response, Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Wall

Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 20lO(Dodd-Frank), 124 Stat. 1376. Dodd-

Frank became effective on July 22, 2010. The primary purpose of Dodd-Frank is to promote

financial stability through measures to improve accountability, resiliency, and transparency in

the financial system.

Dodd-Frank applies to all companies. Dodd-Frank permits cases alleging violations of

Sarbanes-Oxley to be filed directly in US District Court.2 Defendants are incorrect that the

holding in Landgrafv. USIFilm Products, 511 U.S. 244, (1994) prevents Dodd-Frank from

providing additional justification for Plaintiffs removal to US District Court. Jurisdictional

statutes do not result in retroactive legislation since they speak to the power of the court, rather

than to rights or obligations. 511 U.S. 244, at 274 Republic Nat. Bank of Miami, 506 U.S.80, at

100. (1992)

B. Bretton Woods Institutions. The IBRD and International Monetary Fund

("IMF") were established at the end of World War II to prevent a "beggar thy neighbor"

1 H.R. Rep. 108-63(1) P.L. 108-44, Accountant, Compliance, and Enforcement Staffing Act of
2003 House Report No. 108-63(1).

2 More than 600 whistleblower complaints alleging retaliation have been adjudicated within the
Department of Labor in accordance with the administrative framework established by Sarbanes-
Oxley. The vast majority of these cases were voluntarily withdrawn by the whistleblowers or
summarily decided or dismissed by the administrative law judges tasked with handling them.
Information on whistleblower retaliation cases brought under Sarbanes-Oxley is available on the

Department of Labor's website. See http://www.oalj.dol.gov/libwhist.htm (Last visited January
16,2011).



approach to the global financial system. The IBRD and IMF 3 work together in the financial

sectors of member countries undergoing difficulties.

On April 8, 2005 the Joint Economic Committee of Congress raised questions about

corporate governance irregularities at IBRD. In a letter to IBRD, the Joint Economic Committee

asked whether IBRD's Board "always is in possession of accurate and timely data." (Dckt.# 24-6)

Congress enacted the Foreign Operations, Export Financing, and Related Programs

Appropriations Act of 2005, 119 Stat. 2172, including the Lugar Leahy Amendment, 22 U.S.C.

262o-4, requiring IBRD to give lawyers and accountants independent access to IBRD's

Audit Committee and access to independent arbitration. IBRD did not implement the Lugar

Leahy Amendment. (Dckt. #24-20)

In March 2009 GAO stated that it could not commence an inquiry into IBRD's

transparency commissioned by Senators Lugar, Leahy and Bayh on May 14, 2008 "because of

challenges we recently faced in gaining access to World Bank officials."4 In September 15, 2010

hearings on the World Bank's capital increase, the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations stated

that the GAO inquiry into transparency at the World Bank had to be completed and necessary

reforms in place before appropriated funds for a capital increase would be disbursed.5

"The United States Government is a member of the Bank and under the Articles of

Agreement of the Bank it may sell its securities in the United States only with the approval of the

3 The IMF and IBRD were established in 1944 by 44 countries who attended a conference in
Bretton Woods, New Hampshire.

4 The International Financial Institutions: A Call for Change A Report to the Committee on
Foreign Relations United States Senate, March 10, 2010, at 24
http://www.foreignpolicy.com/files/fp_uploaded_images/int_fin_inst2.pdf

55'gehttp://foreign.senate.gov/hearings/hearing/?id=33c66777-5056-a032-525a-aOa5806634e9
(Last visited January 16, 2011).



United States Government. Under the Bretton Woods Agreement Act that approval is given by

the National Advisory Council." (Dckt. #24-16, at 4) "The Securities and Exchange

Commission acting in consultation with the National Advisory Council on International

Monetary and Financial Problems is authorized to suspend the provisions of section 286k-1 (a) of

this title at any time as to any or all securities issued or guaranteed by the Bank during the period

of such suspension."6

On May 27, 2010 Plaintiff sent a memorandum to the Chairman of the SEC and National

Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies that "[t]he Senate and House

of Representatives intended to protect persons who assist the legislature in oversight of the

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development against retaliation, and the employee

protection provisions of Title VIII of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 806, repealed in

part IBRD's conditional exemption from the US securities laws.7 (DcktJ 33-2, at 1) The SEC

acknowledged receipt of Plaintiffs memorandum to the Chairman of the SEC in a letter dated

July 21, 2010 from the Assistant Director of Enforcement Matters.8 (Dckt. #38-2).

6 22 U.S.C.§ 286k-2. 63 Stat. 299. 22 U.S.C. § 286k-l(a) provides: "Any securities issued by
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development ...shall be deemed to be exempted
securities within the meaning of paragraph (a)(2) of section 3 of the [Securities Act of 1933] and
paragraph (a)(12) of section 3 of the [Exchange Act of 1934]." Functions of the National
Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Problems were delegated to the
National Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies, see section 2(a) of
Ex. Ord. No. 11269, Feb. 14, 1966,31 F.R. 2813, set out as a note under 22 U.S.C. §286b.

7 See George W. Bush's July 30, 2002 Statement on Signing Sarbanes-Oxley: "Given that the
legislative purpose of section 1514A of title 18 of the U.S. Code, enacted by section 806 of the
Act, is to protect against company retaliation for lawful cooperation with investigations and not
to define the scope of investigative authority or to grant new investigative authority, the
executive branch shall construe section 1514A(a)(l)(B) as referring to investigations authorized
by the rules of the Senate or the House of Representatives and conducted for a proper legislative
purpose." available at: http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=64514
8 Plaintiff has certified receipts for both memoranda to the NAC from each of the recipients.



On September 1,2010 Plaintiff sent a second Memorandum to the SEC and National

Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies, this time concerning

Plaintiffs cause of action as a bondholder against KPMG for failure to observe applicable

accounting standards. "In response to ongoing internal control deficiencies at the IBRD9, on

February 27, 2009 the Chairman of IBRD's Audit Committee informed Karen Hudes that the

Audit Committee would require an external audit of IBRD's internal control over financial

reporting. The Audit Committee duly appointed KPMG to carry out such audit. KPMG's failure

to comply with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's Auditing Standard No. 5 in

conducting such audit constitutes a violation of Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.

§77(k)(a)(4)." (Exhibit 1).

On December 22, 2010 Plaintiff informed the SEC's Assistant Director of Enforcement

Matters that IBRD and KPMG were attempting to dismiss Plaintiffs action in the District Court

for the District of Columbia. The SEC did not refute Plaintiffs memoranda that Sarbanes-Oxley

whistleblower protections apply to Congressional investigations of IBRD and that KPMG's

failure to comply with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's Auditing Standard No. 5

in conducting an audit commissioned by the IBRD's Audit Committee of that issuer's internal

control over financial reporting constitutes a violation of Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15

U.S.C. §77(k)(a)(4). The following week Plaintiff followed up with an email to the Secretariat

9 Identified by the Joint Economic Committee in a letter dated April 8, 2005 to Mr. James E.
Wolfensohn, and addressed in the Lugar Leahy Amendment [Foreign Operations, Export
Financing, and Related Programs Appropriations Act,l 19 Stat. 2172 (2005)]. See letter dated
April 25,1949 from the Secretary of the Treasury to the President of the Senate and Speaker of
the House.
http://c0403731 .cdn.cloudfiles.rackspacecloud.com/collection/papers/l 940/1949_0425_Louchhe
imLegislative.pdf (Last visited January 15, 2011)



of the National Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies and the State

Department's representative on the NAC, requesting a response if they did not agree with

Plaintiffs memoranda to the SEC and NAC . (Exhibit 2)

IBRD has $75 billion in bonds denominated in US dollars and another $35 billion in

bonds denominated in other currencies. IBRD's bonds are publicly traded on the bond markets.

IBRD's conditional exemption under the securities laws is not inviolate. IBRD's conditional

exemption was granted for historical reasons that are outdated and no longer applicable. (Dckt.

#24-1 at 9) Defendants' bald assertion that Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower provisions do not

protect Congressional investigations of IBRD, and PCAOB Accounting Standard No. 5 does not

apply to the audit of IBRD's internal control over financial reporting commissioned by IBRD's

Audit Committee, is incorrect.

The National Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies and the

SEC accept that Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower protections rescinded in part IBRD's conditional

exemption and prevent IBRD from retaliating against IBRD employees who assist in

Congressional investigations. After IBRD's corporate governance irregularities and contempt of

Congress, the National Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies and

the SEC accept that Generally Accepted Accounting Standards apply in audits of IBRD's internal

control over financial reporting and that Plaintiff has a valid cause of action against KPMG

under Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77(k)(a)(4). It would be premature to dismiss

Plaintiffs claims under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(l) when Defendants'jurisdictional objections are

more properly considered as a direct attack on the merits of Plaintiff s case.



II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the end of the 1990's the Philippines requested IBRD's assistance for recovery from

the East Asia financial crisis. Plaintiff10 was the lawyer on an IBRD team working with the IMF

on the Philippines financial sector. Plaintiff also headed a judicial reform project in the

Philippines for the former Chief Justice of the Philippines' Supreme Court, Hilario Davide, Jr.

(See Chronology of Internal Control Lapses at the World Bank, briefing paper prepared at the

request of the European Parliament Exhibit 3). In 2001 CJ Davide impeached Joseph Estrada,

President of the Philippines, and in 2007 the Sandiganbayan, an anti-graft court, required Estrada

to return the assets which he had plundered.

The Operations Evaluation Department refused to reveal to the Board of Executive

Directors the role of IBRD's poor supervision of the Philippines Banking Sector Reform Loan in

the corrupt take-over by Estrada's crony Lucio Tan of the second largest bank in the Philippines,

resulting in a $500 million banking failure, cancellation of $200 million from the Bank's loan to

the Philippines, and cancellation of $200 million in cofinancing from Japan.

On June 2, 2004 Plaintiff informed the Audit Committee of IBRD's Board of Executive

Directors that the IBRD's Institutional Integrity Department was interfering with the access of

IBRD's Board of Executive Directors to information necessary for the Board to fulfill its

mandate for oversight of IBRD under IBRD's Articles of Agreement. On February 28, 2009

Plaintiff advised Mr. A. Almofadhi, successor to Pierre Duquesne as chair of IBRD's Audit

Committee, to request an external audit of IBRD's internal control over financial reporting. On

10 Plaintiff worked for over twenty years in IBRD's Legal Department. Plaintiff received a J.D.
from Yale Law School and a doctoraal in economics from the University of Amsterdam, having
studied monetary economics with Wim Duisenberg, the first President of the European Central
Bank, and development economics with Jan Pronk, a former Minister of Development in the
Netherlands and Assistant Secretary General of the United Nations.



June 9, 2009, the Audit Committee commissioned KPMG to carry out an audit of IBRD's

internal control over financial reporting.

In 2006 Plaintiff reported to Senator Lugar that IBRD concealed from the IBRD's Board

of Executive Directors Plaintiffs report to the Executive Search firm interviewing Plaintiff for

the position of general counsel at IBRD of corporate governance irregularities and securities

violations. (Dckt. #24-7). The Board of Executive Directors is required to participate in the

selection of key officials, including the appointment of IBRD's general counsel. Plaintiff also

reported to Senator Lugar that she had discussed with Mr. Eckhard Deutscher, then German

Executive Director and Dean of IBRD's Board (Dckt. #33-2, at 27), IBRD's compliance under

the Articles of Agreement. But IBRD stonewalled the issues raised in three letters of inquiry to

IBRD from Senator Lugar's office. (DcktJ 24-7, at 4-11) Instead, IBRD retaliated against

Plaintiff and promoted the Executive Secretary of the IBRD's Administrative Tribunal two

weeks after the Tribunal admitted tampered documentation concealing evidence of Plaintiff s

illegal separation.

On August 6, 2009, Plaintiff advised Mr. S. Aass, Executive Director for the Nordic

Countries and chair of the Board's Committee on Governance and Administrative Matters

("COGAM"): "The Board was never informed of the World Bank's failed supervision on

the Philippines Banking Sector Reform Loan. I was fired in retaliation for trying to preserve

the authority of the Board under the Articles of Agreement. [The Human Resources Department]

has misinformed the US authorities about the terms of my illegal separation from the World

Bank. The Board has never considered [the Institutional Integrity Department's] or the Office of

Ethics and Business Conduct's role in perpetuating the cover-up to the Board of Executive

Directors. EBC is now violating the Bank's whistleblower policy by conducting a review of its

8



own malfeasance. The World Bank's conflict resolution system is unable to resolve these

corporate governance issues involving the mandate of the Board of Executive Directors. Staff

are too intimidated to report misconduct after I was fired illegally. I attach relevant

documentation and would appreciate your assistance in bringing these issues before COGAM for

proper resolution." (Dckt. #24-5, at 5)

On August 20, 2009 Mr. Aass met with Plaintiff and recommended that Plaintiff be

reinstated as an Advisor to the High Level Commission on World Bank Governance and Acting

General Counsel of IBRD. Mr. E. Miagkov, Alternate Executive Director for Russia, met with

Plaintiff and concurred with Mr. Aass' decision on behalf of A. Kvasov, Dean of the Board.

Under IBRD's Articles of Agreement, the appointment of IBRD's officers and staff is under the

general control of the Executive Directors. On September 2, 2009 IBRD rescinded Plaintiffs

reinstatement and barred Plaintiff from entering its premises. Plaintiff filed a case with the

Occupational Safety and Health Administration on October 13, 2009 claiming that IBRD's

reversal of the Board's decision to reinstate Plaintiff was in violation of Sarbanes-Oxley, 18

U.S.C. §1514A.

On April 26, 2010 Plaintiff advised Mr. D. Shontz, Assistant General Counsel of KPMG,

and Mr. Timothy P Flynn, Chairman of KPMG International, that "[t]he attached summons in

connection with the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development's violation of US

securities laws was served on the IBRD on April 22, 2010. Other court filings are at

clearviewconnects.com, login 30795, password 72ef7b4. I have also complained to the District

of Columbia Court of Appeals about violations by IBRD's legal department of professional

ethics. Correspondence with the Assistant General Counsel of the SEC, Counsel to the Inspector



General of the SEC, and DC Bar Counsel on this matter is attached for your information as

well."

On May 27, 2010 Plaintiff purchased an IBRD Bond maturing on May 26, 2015 from

HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., IBRD's dealer in Bethesda, MD. Plaintiff was a bondholder on

August 5, 2010, the date that KPMG issued an unqualified opinion on IBRD's internal control

over financial reporting in violation of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's Auditing

Standard No. 5.

On November 21, 2010, Plaintiff reiterated for a third time11 to IBRD's Administrative

Tribunal that Mr. Nassib Ziade, the former Executive Secretary, had admitted documentation

into the record after such documentation had been redacted in contemplation of litigation. "Mr.

Nassib Ziade, as Executive Secretary of WB AT, continued to prepare briefings on pleadings that

were before the WBAT while he was under consideration by the Vice President and General

Counsel for a position at ICSID. The fact that Mr. Ziade was being considered for an

appointment by a Respondent in litigation before WBAT created a conflict of interest which

called Mr. Ziade's objectivity and independence of judgment into question. Members of IBRD's

and other Administrative Tribunals are precluded from assuming staff positions." Plaintiff

further informed the Administrative Tribunal that the Chair of the Board on Professional

Responsibility of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals was reconsidering Plaintiffs request

for sanction of the IBRD lawyer who violated Rules Governing the Bar. (Dckt. #38-3)

In a letter dated December 13, 2010, IBRD's Administrative Tribunal again declined to

address the conflict of interest of its former Executive Secretary and the tampered

documentation. On January 9, 2011, Plaintiff informed IBRD's Administrative Tribunal that the

11 Plaintiff first reported this serious matter to the President of IBRD's Administrative Tribunal on
May 1, 2007. (Dckt. #24-9)

10



Tribunal's latest ruling had "conclusively demonstrated that [IBRD's Administrative Tribunal]

does not possess requisite judicial independence to consider a case and controversy involving the

mandate of the Board of Executive Directors." IBRD and Mark E. Schreiber ("Schreiber") have

argued in their Motions to Dismiss that IBRD's Administrative Tribunal has exclusive right to

hear Plaintiffs claims. Plaintiff withdrew her case from the Administrative Tribunal because it

also lacks requisite judicial independence to consider a case and controversy involving the rights

of IBRD's bondholders.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. "Under Rule 12(b)(l) the motion to dismiss stage, counseled complaints, as well as

pro se complaints, are to be construed with sufficient liberality to afford all possible inferences

favorable to the pleader on allegations of fact." Settles v. U.S. Parole Comm'n, 429 F.3d 1098,

1106 (D.C.Cir.2005). All of defendants' objections to jurisdiction are intertwined with the

merits. "But we ensure that defendants are not allowed to use Rule 12(b)(l) to resolve the merits

too early in litigation. By requiring less of a factual showing than would be required to succeed

at trial, district courts ensure that they do not prematurely grant Rule 12(b)(l) to dismiss claims

in which jurisdiction is intertwined with the merits and could be established, along with the

merits, given the benefit of discovery." CNA v. U.S., 535 F.3d 132, (2008).

Arbaugh v. Y&HCorp., 546 U.S. 500, 515, (2006). "This distinction-whether a statute

contains within itself the bounds of its jurisdiction-counsels the result in our case. Section 1346,

by subsection (b)(l), tethers jurisdiction to meeting that subsection's requirements. Subrogees

invoke the principle that" 'where the defendant's challenge to the court's jurisdiction is also a

challenge to the existence of a [fjederal cause of action, the proper course of action for the

11



district court... is to find that jurisdiction exists and to deal with the objection as a direct attack

on the merits of the plaintiffs case.' " Cohen v. Kurtzman, 45 F.Supp.2d 423, 428-29

(D.N.J.1999) (quoting Williamson v. Tucker, 645 F.2d 404, 415 (5th Cir.1981)). This idea runs

through numerous cases that classify issues as either jurisdictional or relating to the merits. See,

e.g., Mortensen, 549 F.2d at 890 (contrasting antitrust claims from "other claims whose

jurisdictional bases are not as intertwined with their merits").

B. Under Rule 12(b)(6) "[t]he Court will not grant a motion to dismiss for failure to

state a claim... 'unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in

support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.1 Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46

(1957); Kowal v. MCI Communications Corp., 16 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C.Cir.1994).

Accordingly, at this stage of the proceedings, the Court accepts as true all of the complaint's

factual allegations. See Doe v. United States Dep't of Justice, 753 F.2d 1092, 1102

(D.C.Cir.1985). Plaintiffs are entitled to 'the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from

the facts alleged.' Kowal, 16 F.3d at 1276." Oceanic Exploration Co., v. Conocophillips, Inc.,

2006 WL 2711527, at 2 (D.D.C. September 21, 2006).

Kim v. U.S. 618 F.Supp.2d 31 (D.D.C. 2009) In evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to

dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court must construe the complaint in a light most

favorable to the plaintiff and must accept as true all reasonable factual inferences drawn from

well-pleaded factual allegations. In re United Mine Workers of Am. Employee Benefit Plans

Litig., 854 F.Supp. 914, 915 (D.D.C.1994); see also Schuler v. United States, 617 F.2d 605, 608

(D.C.Cir.1979) ("The complaint must be 'liberally construed in favor of the plaintiff,' who must

be granted the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from the facts alleged."). In addition

12



where, as here, an action is brought by apro se plaintiff, the Court must take particular care to

construe the plaintiffs filings liberally for such complaints are held "to less stringent standards

than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers." Raines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520-21, (1972);

Richardson v. United States, 193 F.3d 545, 548 (D.C.Cir.1999). When considering pro se

complaints, courts may "consider supplemental material filed by apro se litigant in order to

clarify the precise claims being urged." Greenhill v. Spellings, 482 F.3d 569, 572 (D.C.Cir.2007)

(citing Anyanwutaku v. Moore, 151 F.3d 1053, 1054 (D.C.Cir.1998)).

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require notice pleading, not fact pleading, so to

withstand a Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion, the plaintiff "need only make out a claim upon

which relief can be granted. If more facts are necessary to resolve or clarify the disputed issues,

the parties may avail themselves of the civil discovery mechanisms under the Federal Rules."

Alston v. Parker, 363 F.3d 229, 233 n. 6 (3d Cir.2004), quoting Swierkiewicz v. Sorema, N.A.,

534 U.S. 506, 512 (2002) ("This simplified notice pleading standard relies on liberal discovery

rules ... to define facts and issues and to dispose of unmeritorious claims.").

IV. ARGUMENT

A. IBRD and KPMG

1. IBRD Waived Its Immunity

IBRD's Articles of Agreement12 provide in Article VII Status, Immunities and Privileges:

12 Dec. 27, 1945, 60 Stat. 1440, TIAS No. 1502, 2 UNTS 134, available at:
http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/EXTABOUTUS/0,,contentMDK:20049557~m
enuPK:63000601~pagePK:34542~piPK:36600~theSitePK:29708,OO.html (Last visited January
15,2010)

13



"SECTIONS. Position of the Bank with Regard to Judicial Process

Actions may be brought against the Bank only in a court of competent jurisdiction in the
territories of a member in which the Bank has an office, has appointed an agent for the
purpose of accepting service or notice of process, or has issued or guaranteed securities."

Precedent cited by IBRD's Counsel under the International Organizations Immunities Act

does not apply to a bondholder entitled to accurate financial statements and financial attorney

assisting the Board of that issuer, the SEC, Senate, and House of Representatives to investigate

corporate governance irregularities, internal control lapses, and violations of securities laws. The

obligations of in-house counsel under Section 307 of Sarbanes-Oxley, codified at 15 U.S.C.

§7245, are "in the public interest and for the protection of investors."

Contrary to Defendant IBRD's argument that Plaintiffs claim is essentially an

employment action for wrongful termination, Plaintiffs action furthers the purposes and

operations of IBRD through restoring the access of the Board of Executive Directors to

information necessary for them to oversee IBRD's operations in compliance with IBRD's

Articles of Agreement. Plaintiff has followed the advice of Aaron Broches, Plaintiffs mentor,

and IBRD's longest-serving General Counsel, about the responsibility of IBRD's Legal

Department for preserving rule of law in IBRD. Plaintiffs efforts have been recognized by the

Board of Executive Directors and IBRD's shareholders. (Dckt. #24-15, at 1-8; #33-3)

Plaintiffs case also draws from an accurate stakeholder analysis which predicted six

years ago that IBRD's sustainability could be impaired if the dispute between the IBRD's

President and Board was not resolved through application of the provisions in IBRD's Articles of

Agreement defining their respective mandates. (Dckt. #24-3, at 17-24) The deleterious effect

on IBRD's corporate governance and IBRD's bondholders of a cover-up to the Board of

Executive Directors cannot be overstated.

14



IBRD argues that it is immune from this suit for the following reason: "If courts in the

United States began reviewing the Bank's internal operations, then courts of other nations will be

asked to do so as well. This would subject the Bank to the possibility of conflicting demands by

different nations seeking to enforce their own local laws—precisely the outcome the Bank's

immunity was designed to prevent." A cover-up to the Board of Executive Directors concerning

the violation of securities and banking laws in a member country and unresolved corporate

governance irregularities in an issuer of $110 billion in bonds cannot be characterized as an

"internal operation." In actual fact, the violation of securities laws, breach of IBRD's Articles of

Agreement, abuse of authority, and contempt of Congress complained of in this suit led to the

decentralization of jobs located in IBRD's Washington headquarters to IBRD's offices abroad.

The destruction of evidence in Plaintiffs case, prohibited under Sarbanes-Oxley, 18

U.S.C. § 1519 ("Destruction, alteration, or falsification of records in Federal investigations and

bankruptcy"), illustrates the extent of IBRD's internal control deficiencies. See Arthur Andersen

LIP v. U.S. 544 U.S. 696, (2005). Plans for further massive decentralization of IBRD are fueled

by unresolved corporate governance irregularities.

The World Bank's Staff Association stated to the Administrative Tribunal: "Violations of

a Memorandum of Understanding ('MOU'), as alleged by Ms. Hudes, not only undermine the

credibility of this institution but damage the morale of its workforce. This impact is particularly

harmful when the MOU is intended to address retaliation against an individual who has reported

suspected misconduct to the Bank's officers. Violating such an agreement invariably deters other

staff members from advising their superiors of wrongdoing. In signing the MOU the Bank

agreed to put an end to retaliation against Ms. Hudes; by violating its express terms the Bank

instead compounded the misconduct." (Dckt. #24-9 at 4) When employees in an issuer of $110

15



billion in bonds on the international financial capital markets are too intimidated to correct

misconduct and inaccurate financial information to that issuer's Board and other oversight

agencies, this internal control lapse harms Plaintiff and other bondholders.

2. Plaintiffs Right to Accurate Financial Statements

Plaintiffs rights as a bondholder extend beyond the enforcement of IBRD's payment

obligations. Auditor's engagement partners are responsible for misstatements in audit opinions

on compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Generally Accepted

Auditing Standards (GAAS). See S.E.C. v. KPMGLLP., 412 F.Supp.2d 349 (2006).

Dicta cited by IBRD in Mendaro, 111 F.2d 610, at 617, (D.C. Cir. 1983), is not apposite.

Plaintiff as a bondholder is entitled to accurate financial statements.

Plaintiff is not able to rely upon KPMG's unqualified opinion of IBRD's internal control

over financial reporting because in violation of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and

PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, KPMG circumscribed the scope of its audit to prevent the

audit team from having to consider glaring red flags. There can be no assurance about the

accuracy of IBRD's financial statements so long as there is an unacceptably high risk that

undetected misstatements would cause IBRD's financial statements to be materially misstated.

Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley requires a company's independent auditor to attest to

management's disclosures regarding the effectiveness of its internal control. IBRD's Audit

Committee engaged KPMG for an audit of IBRD's internal control over financial reporting.

PCAOB's Auditing Standard No. 5 requires the auditor to take into account any control

16



deficiencies previously communicated to the audit committee or management.13 The auditor

may form an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting only when

there have been no restrictions on the scope of the auditor's work.14 KPMG itself imposed such

restrictions on its own audit team by preventing Plaintiff from informing the audit team of

control deficiencies previously communicated to IBRD's Audit Committee. A scope limitation

requires the auditor to disclaim an opinion or withdraw from the engagement.

IBRD is in contempt of Congress in its refusal to respond to questions raised by the

Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, or to cooperate with the GAO inquiry commissioned by

Senators Lugar, Leahy and Bayh. When KPMG refused to inform its team conducting an audit

of IBRD's internal control over financial reporting of these issues, this was another

impermissible restriction on the scope of the audit team's work.

Plaintiff purchased IBRD's bonds before KPMG issued its unqualified opinion on IBRD's

internal control over financial reporting. Defendant IBRD's disclosure of information as an

issuer on the bond markets is regulated by the SEC. The SEC has promulgated a disclosure rule

requiring IBRD to provide periodic reports. (Dckt. #24-17). KPMG's Independent Auditor's

Report, (Dckt. #58-5), filed with the SEC pursuant to 17 U.S.C. §285.2, damaged Plaintiff and

IBRD's other bondholders. KPMG's unqualified opinion prevented bondholders from requiring

mitigating measures to correct corporate governance irregularities and improve the quality of

IBRD's financial reporting. Moreover, in a situation where there is risk to IBRD itself from

ongoing corporate governance irregularities, Plaintiff and IBRD's other bondholders are

13 PCAOB Release 2007-005 A, June 12, 2007, Page A1-7- Standard paragraph 9, See
http://pcaobus.org/Rules/Rulemaking/Docket%20021/2007-06-12_Release_No_2007-005A.pdf
(Last visited January 15, 2010)

Id., Page A1-30- Standard, paragraph 75.14 iu., rage f\.i—j\j— ouuiumu, p<nagio.jjii / -> .
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damaged by the absence of an accurate audit of the effectiveness of IBRD's internal control over

financial reporting carried out without limitation on the scope of the audit.

KPMG's impermissible restrictions on the scope of the audit prevented its audit team

from ascertaining in its audit of IBRD's internal control over financial reporting a combination

of deficiencies, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the

company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely

basis. Contrary to KPMG's assertion, and as argued infra, the SEC and National Advisory

Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies accept that KPMG's failure to comply

with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's Auditing Standard No. 5 in conducting such

audit gives this Court subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs private cause of action against

KPMG under Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77(k)(a)(4).15

3. Same Questions of Law and Fact in Claim against KPMG

Plaintiffs claims against KPMG should not be severed. Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2)B

defendants may be joined in one action when any question of law or fact common to all

defendants will arise in the action. Brereton v. Communications Satellite Corp., 116 F.R.D. 162,

(D.D.C.,1987). Parties are misjoined when they fail to satisfy either of the preconditions for

permissive joinder of parties set forth in the rule. The same question of law and fact arises in

15 See Liability of Independent Accountant to Investors or Shareholders 48 American Law
Reports 5th 389 (1997)
1 Am. Jur. 2d Accountants § § 19-29
Rosenblum, Inc. v. Adler: CPAS Liable At Common Law to Certain Reasonably Foreseeable
Third Parties Who Detrimentally Rely on Negligently Audited Financial Statements 70 Cornell
Law Review 335 (1985)
Negligent Accounting and the Limits of Instrumental Tort Reform 86 Michigan Law Review
1929(1988)
Tort Law-The Enlarging Scope of Auditors' Liability to Relying Third Parties 59 Notre Dame
Law Review 281 (1983)
Accountants' Common Law Liability to Third Parties 37 Res Gestae 508 (1994)
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Plaintiffs claim against KPMG and Plaintiffs claim against IBRD and the other defendants: (1)

why an employee who informed the US Congress of an issuer's compliance issues is not entitled

to Sarbanes-Oxley whistleblower protections; and (2) why auditing standards established by

PCAOB pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley specifically for audits of internal control over financial

reporting should not apply to the audit for this purpose commissioned by that issuer's Audit

Committee.

Counsel misconstrued Plaintiffs case in KPMG's Memorandum in Support of Motion to

Sever and Dismiss. Plaintiff does not claim securities fraud, and KPMG's argument to this effect

is a straw man. Plaintiff does not allege that KPMG acted in concert with IBRD or the other two

defendants. Plaintiff does allege that KPMG was wrong to prevent its audit team from learning

of IBRD's request for the illegal disclosure of Plaintiff s medical records by Aetna Life Insurance

Co., ("Aetna") and Schreiber's defamatory whistleblower investigation in contravention of

IBRD's Staff Rule 8.02 Protections and Procedures for Reporting Misconduct (Whistleblowing)

because these matters further served to indicate the extent of IBRD's internal control

deficiencies.

4. Plaintiff Had Right to Remove to District Court

It is not necessary to determine the application of Dodd-Frank to determine whether

Plaintiff was entitled to transfer her case to District Court. The Administrative Procedure Act, 5

U.S.C. §554(a)(4), entitled Plaintiff to transfer adjudication of her Sarbanes-Oxley case to

District Court on March 8, 2010 because judicial remedies are more appropriate than

administrative proceedings when there are international repercussions. McCulloch v. Sociedad

National de Marimros de Honduras, 372 U.S. 10, 83 (1963). "But the presence of public

questions particularly high in the scale of our national interest because of their international
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complexion is a uniquely compelling justification for prompt judicial resolution of the

controversy over the Board's power."

In an international organization established by treaty, Plaintiffs function as counsel under

Section 307 of Sarbanes-Oxley involves the conduct of foreign affairs functions. Five of IBRD's

member countries and the European Commission acknowledged the issues raised by Plaintiff.

(Dckt. #24-15, at 1-8; #33-3) Plaintiff met with the UK's Serious Fraud Office on September 28,

2010 to discuss IBRD's compliance issues, and the SFO called the SEC in follow-up on October

12,2010.

Plaintiff does not argue that her cause of action requires any retroactivity. The SEC and

the National Advisory Council on International Monetary and Financial Policies do not refute

Plaintiffs statement that those provisions in Sarbanes-Oxley which protect Congressional

investigations have rescinded in part IBRD's conditional exemption under the securities laws.

An employment action is adverse if it is reasonably likely to discourage an employee

from participating in legally protected activity. See Ray v. Henderson, 217 F.3d 1234, 1243

(2000). Each separate and discrete discriminatory employment act starts a new clock for the

filing of an administrative complaint. (Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., 536 U.S. at 113, and

McClendon v. He-wlitt-Packard Corp. Memorandum Decision and Order Case 1:05-cv-00087-

BLW.16 IBRD's Board reinstated Plaintiff on August 20, 2009, and two weeks later IBRD's

security staff barred Plaintiff from entering IBRD's buildings. Plaintiffs October 13, 2009

Complaint was filed with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration within 90 days of

these adverse employment actions.

16 See
http://www.oalj.doc.gov/PUBLIC/WHISTLEBLOWER/DECISIONS/COURT_DECISIONS/05
_087_MEM_DECISION_AND_ORDER_files/css/05_087_MEM_DECISION_AND_ORDER.
PDF) (Last visited January 15, 2010)
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5. Congressional and SEC Response

The SEC conducts investigations on a non-public basis, and does not confirm the

existence of investigations unless such matters are part of the public records in proceedings

before the SEC or the courts. The Senate Banking Committee, responsible for oversight of the

SEC, has recently been in contact with the SEC on the matters raised by Plaintiff. Under the

Dodd-Frank bounty program, a whistleblower may receive an award for reporting securities

violations to the SEC regardless whether the violation had occurred prior to July 22, 2010, the

effective date of Dodd-Frank.17 Plaintiff provided original information to the SEC that IBRD

was out of compliance on the bond market and that KPMG had violated the SEC's accounting

rules:

(a) IBRD retaliated against staff who reported to US Congress that IBRD was out of
compliance with its own Articles of Agreement, securities and banking laws in the
Philippines, and professional rules of ethics in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1514A and 18
U.S.C. §1519

(b) IBRD retaliated against financial staff who reported inaccurate financial statements and
did not provide access of financial staff to external arbitration in violation of the Lugar-
Leahy Amendment 22 U.S.C. §262o-4

(c) KPMG's unqualified opinion on management's assertion that IBRD maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting violated the PCAOB's accounting standards and
the SEC's accounting rules

(d) IBRD had destroyed, altered and falsified records in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1519

On December 13, 2010 KPMG met with the SEC on the matters raised by Plaintiff.

1715 USC 78u-7. Implementation and Transition Provisions For Whistleblower Protection,
(c) Awards.-A whistleblower may receive an award pursuant to section 21F of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as added by this subtitle, regardless of whether any violation of a
provision of the securities laws, or a rule or regulation thereunder, underlying the judicial or
administrative action upon which the award is based, occurred prior to the date of enactment of
this subtitle.
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B. Aetna and Schreiber

IBRD's contractual relationships with its service providers reflect IBRD's economic

bargaining power. Under their contracts with IBRD, Aetna and Schreiber were induced to

damage Plaintiff. Aetna's and Schreiber's damage to Plaintiff discourages IBRD employees from

disclosing misconduct or correcting misinformation, including financial information.

1. Maryland Policy to Protect Confidentiality of Medical Records Applies

Aetna serves as third-party claims administrator for the IBRD's self-funded health

benefits plan. Aetna's obligations as administrator of IBRD's health plan are contractual, Aetna's

performance under its contract with IBRD, and its obligations to beneficiaries under the health

plan, are also contractual. There is precedent in the U.S. Court of Appeals to regard an

administrator's failure to protect the confidentiality of medical records as a breach of contract.

Darcangelo v. Verizon Communications, Inc., 292 F.3d 181, ((C.A.4 Md., 2002).

Aetna frequently provides staff members' confidential medical information to IBRD; this

abuse has been reported in Defendant IBRD's internal justice system, as well as by experts

commissioned to review Defendant IBRD's whistleblower practices. IBRD is notorious for

discrediting whistleblowers through bogus psychological fitness for duty assessments. IBRD

sought to discredit Plaintiff by contending that Plaintiff was unbalanced when she reported

1 fi

corruption in the Philippines Banking Sector Reform Loan.

18 See (Dckt. #24-4), email dated February 23, 2005 from Mr. Pieter Stek, former Executive
Director from the Netherlands Government concerning a retaliatory "fitness for duty assessment"
of Plaintiff that IBRD's Dr. Dimberg carried out in 2005 after Plaintiff reported to the Audit
Committee of IBRD that there was a cover-up of corruption in the Philippines Banking Sector
Reform Loan. Mr. Stek informed Dr. Dimberg that it would be unfortunate if the practice of
"medicalizing" problems would make inroads into the United States.
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Aetna and IBRD violated the Maryland Confidentiality of Medical Records Act

("CMRA"), Md. Code Ann., Health-Gen. §§ 4-301 - 4-309, by disclosing medical records

concerning medical services of a psychologist licensed and practicing in Maryland19 provided to

Plaintiff, a Maryland resident. The CMRA protects against the unauthorized disclosure and

redisclosure of medical records.

After Aetna revealed to IBRD Plaintiffs consultation with her Maryland therapist,

IBRD's Dr. Demure telephoned Plaintiffs therapist in Maryland. Dr. Demure then redisclosed

and misused the information which Aetna had wrongfully disclosed and damaged Plaintiffs

relationship with her therapist in Maryland. Plaintiff is entitled to the presumption that the facts

occurred as alleged, including that the consequences of Aetna's wrongful disclosure or "place of

the wrong" for purposes of the lex loci delicti rule occurred in Maryland and not the District of

Columbia. Before dismissing the Complaint, the court is required to view the facts in the light

most favorable to Plaintiff.

The District of Columbia's choice-of-law rules require a court to identify the jurisdiction

with the most significant relationship to the dispute by evaluating governmental policies

underlying the applicable substantive laws and determining which jurisdiction's policy would be

more advanced by application of its law to the facts of the case. Stutsman v. Kaiser Foundation

Health Plan of Mid-Atlantic States, Inc., 546 A.2d 367, (D.C.,1988) (interest of Virginia in

regulating the legal rights of married couples domiciled in Virginia); Mints v. Mims, 635 A.2d

320, (D.C.,1993)(Maryland had significantly greater interest than did District of Columbia in

19 See (Dckt. #24-3, at 1-18), claims and associated invoices processed by Defendant Aetna of Dr.
Michael Wannon, MD License #3122. Plaintiff consulted Dr. Wannon at his practice located in
Maryland at 5454 Wisconsin Ave, Chevy Chase, MD 20815. Plaintiff intends to determine in
discovery whether Aetna wrongfully disclosed Plaintiffs medical information from other
Maryland health providers, including Johns Hopkins.
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setting level of support for children domiciled in Maryland), Duncan v. G.E. W., Inc., 526 A.2d

1358, (D.C.,1987) (no conflict of law in this case since all three jurisdictions abhor a forfeiture

and will permit equity to intervene if the circumstances are compelling), Gaither v. Myers, 404

F.2d 216, C.A.D.C. 1968. (District's interest in preventing theft of cars does not conflict with

Maryland's interest in preventing theft of cars).

Aetna argues that the CMRA does not apply because "Maryland, pursuant to its own

choice of law rules, would apply District of Columbia tort law to the claim against Aetna." This

is a misreading of the District of Columbia's choice-of-law rule, which looks to underlying

governmental policies in the substantive law at issue. Indeed, in the case cited by Aetna, YWCA

v. Allstate Ins. Co., 275 F.3d 1145, there was no conflict after the court compared the similar

substantive insurance laws in effect in both the District of Columbia and Canada and held that

only if there is a conflict in the substantive law is it necessary to look to choice-of-law

provisions.

Maryland's policy interest in protecting the confidentiality of medical records was clearly

expressed in Warner v. Lerner, 348 Md. 733, 743, 705 A.2d 1169, 1174 (1998), where the Court

held:

"The Preamble to the Maryland Confidentiality of Medical Records Act manifests
the intent of the General Assembly to protect the privacy of patients and to maintain the
confidentiality of medical records, while establishing clear and certain rules for
disclosure of those records. The Preamble to the Act states:

WHEREAS, Medical records contain personal and sensitive information that if
improperly used or disclosed may result in significant harm to the emotional, financial,
health care, and privacy interests of a patient or recipient; and

WHEREAS, Patients and recipients need access to their medical records to enable them
to make informed decisions concerning their health care and to correct inaccurate or
incomplete information about themselves; and

WHEREAS, In order to retain the full trust and confidence of patients and recipients,
health care providers have an interest in assuring that the information in medical records
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will not be improperly disclosed, and that clear and certain rules exist for the disclosure
and redisclosure of this information; and

WHEREAS, In order to protect the privacy of a patient or recipient, that disclosure of
information from a medical record without the authorization of a person in interest be
limited to the information that is relevant to the purpose for which disclosure is sought
and, when feasible and appropriate, to a review of the record by a person who
acknowledges the duty not to redisclose the identity of the patient or recipient...."

In this case there is no conflict in the underlying substantive laws: the policies in the District of

Columbia and in Maryland both maintain the confidentiality of medical records, the only

difference being that the District of Columbia protects medical records under various statutory

schemes. Since there is no conflict in governmental policies, the District of Columbia choice-of-

law rule would apply Maryland law, since it is the jurisdiction whose policy would be more

advanced by application of its law to the facts in Plaintiffs case.

2. Schreiber' s Violation of the CMRA

IBRD provided Plaintiffs confidential medical records to Schreiber over Plaintiffs

specific objections that Schreiber was not entitled to them. Schreiber misused and republished

Plaintiffs confidential medical information in his defamatory report. Schreiber alleges without

basis in his Motion to Dismiss: "In short, any effort to plead a cause of action arising out of

either HIPAA or the Maryland Confidentiality of Medical Records Act ("CMRA") would be

futile, as neither statutory scheme ~ as a matter of law- could provide a source of relief for

Hudes." Plaintiff contends notwithstanding Schreiber's unfounded statement to the contrary, that

she has stated a valid claim for relief from Schreiber's violation of the CMRA.

3. Aetna Has a Fiduciary Relationship with Plaintiff

Aetna argues that Plaintiff has not alleged sufficient facts to sustain the existence of any

fiduciary relationship with Aetna. Freeman v. Fallin, 254 F.Supp.2d 52, 58 (D.D.C.,2003) held
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for a complaint to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, it need only provide a short and

plain statement of the claim and the grounds on which it rests. Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41,

47, (1957). The plaintiff need not plead the elements of a prima-facie case in the complaint.

Swierkiewicz, 534 U.S. at 511-14; Sparrow v. United Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111,1114

(D.C.Cir.2000). Thus, the court may dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim only if it is

clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with

the allegations. Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984); Atchinson v. District of

Columbia, 73 F.3d 418, 422 (D.C.Cir.1996). In deciding such a motion, the court must accept all

of the complaint's well-pled factual allegations as true and draw all reasonable inferences in the

nonmovant's favor. Scheuer, 416 U.S. 232, at 236. See also Primax Recoveries, Inc. v. Lee, 260

F.Supp.2d 43, 47 (D.D.C.2003) (holding in the context of a Rule 12(b)(l) motion to dismiss for

lack of subject matter jurisdiction that a "plaintiff is required only to assert, not to prove,

fiduciary status in its complaint"). Plaintiffs allegation of fiduciary status in its complaint

therefore is sufficient.

Aetna also argues that the District of Columbia will only recognize the existence of a

fiduciary duty where there is an "unusual relationship" between the parties "that imposes special

obligations" on one party in favor of another. Jefferies v. Greater Southeast Community Hosp.

Group Term Life Ins. Plan 2005 WL 3579154, *2 "In every case charging breach of ERISA

fiduciary duty ... the threshold question is not whether the actions of some person employed to

provide services under a plan adversely affected a plan beneficiary's interest, but whether that

person was acting as a fiduciary (that is, was performing a fiduciary function) when taking the

action subject to the complaint." Pegram v. Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 226, (2000). See also Blatt

v. Marshall & Lassman, 812 F.2d 810, 812 (2d Cir.1987) ("whether or not an individual or entity
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is an ERISA fiduciary must be determined by focusing on the function performed, rather than on

the title held"). Thus, whether Lafayette performed any 'fiduciary function' requires a factual

determination of Lafayette's role in the Plan, a matter that cannot be decided on a motion to

dismiss."

la Eaton v. D'Amato, 581 F.Supp. 743, (D.C.D.C.,1980), the Court held that a third-party

claims administrator with functions similar to Aetna's was a fiduciary. That administrator

"adjudicated varied and substantial medical claims for reimbursement in which its judgment as to

what charges or amounts were 'fair,' 'reasonable1 or 'customary' was in effect final. It made

critical decisions concerning management of the dental treatment plan. It effectively supervised

the establishment of recordkeeping systems used in administering the various benefit plans, and

took some initiative regarding subsequent conversion to more sophisticated data processing

equipment. In each instance, [the administrator] apparently possessed broad latitude in making

awards, setting priorities, and performing other administrative tasks... In short, on this record [the

administrator] and its key officials exercised far more than ministerial powers... The connection,

if any, between these fiduciary activities and [the administrator's] alleged wrongdoing is, of

course, a separate matter, to be resolved at trial."

4. Aetna's HIPAA Violations

IBRD and Aetna have refused to inform Plaintiff which of her medical records have been

provided to IBRD. Therefore, Plaintiff has not had the opportunity to identify Aetna's violations

of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), 42 U.S.C. §§1320d to

1230d-8. At such time as all of Aetna's breaches in the confidentiality of Plaintiff s medical

records have been identified, Plaintiff will determine whether to request the Secretary of HHS to

enforce Plaintiffs HIPAA rights.
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5. Schreiber's Review Was Defamatory

Schreiber published in June 2010 to IBRD's Office of Ethics and Business Conduct his

false, defamatory review of Plaintiff s whistleblower claim. Schreiber concluded in his report

that Plaintiff was not a whistleblower by excluding the following matters:

• the four letters of inquiry to IBRD from the US Congress concerning Plaintiff (Dckt.
#24-8, at 5-9; #24-10, 11, 12 and 13)

• the testimony of the Executive Director for the Netherlands on behalf of Plaintiff in
IBRD's Administrative Tribunal and the discussion of Plaintiff, the Dutch ED and the
President of IBRD

• Plaintiffs report of securities law violations during her interview for General Counsel

• the retaliatory letter which Plaintiffs boss sent to Plaintiff two days after Plaintiffs report
to the Audit Committee of IBRD's Board on the cover-up of the Philippines Banking
Sector Reform Loan

• any review of the investigation that IBRD's Audit Committee commissioned from
IBRD's Institutional Integrity Department

• the salary increase of 0 in the year Plaintiff was reassigned from working on the
Philippines

• Plaintiffs objection that IBRD's whistleblower policy precluded IBRD's ethics office
from hiring Schreiber to conduct a review of Plaintiffs case because the ethics office
could not investigate its own wrongdoing

• how Schreiber could conduct an objective review when he was being sued by Plaintiff

Defamation can be shown by artful and purposeful avoidance of the truth. Harte-Hanks,

491 U.S. 657, at 692 (1989). Schreiber's report meets the four elements required under District

of Columbia law for a finding of defamation: (1) that the defendant made a false and defamatory

statement concerning the plaintiff; (2) that the defendant published the statement without

privilege to a third party; (3) that the defendant's fault in publishing the statement amounted to at

least negligence; and (4) that its publication caused the plaintiff special harm. Parsi v.

Daioleslam, 595 F.Supp.2d 99, (D.D.C.,2009).
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A statement can be understood in a defamatory sense if it "tends to lower plaintiff in the

estimation of a substantial, respectable group, though they are a minority of the total community

or plaintiffs associates." Afro-American Publ'g Co. v. Jaffe, 366 F.2d 649, 664 (D.C.Cir.1966).

It is reasonable to understand Schreiber's statement that Plaintiff is not a whistleblower hi a

defamatory sense and the statement is "capable of conveying a defamatory meaning". S. Air

Tramp, v. Am. Broad. Cos., Inc., 877 F.2d 1010, 1013-14 (D.C.Cir.1989). For this inquiry, the

Court, sitting in diversity, applies the District's defamation law. " 'It is only when the court can

say that the publication is not reasonably capable of any defamatory meaning and cannot be

reasonably understood in any defamatory sense that it can rule as a matter of law, that it was not

libelous.' " White v. Fraternal Order of Police, 909 F.2d 512, 518 (D.C.Cir.1990) (quoting Levy

v. Am. Mutual Ins. Co., 196 A.2d 475, 476 (D.C.I 964)). Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts

invoking this Court's subject matter jurisdiction to withstand Schreiber's Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(l)

motion and has stated a claim upon which relief can be granted to withstand Schreiber's Fed. R.

Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Plaintiff is entitled to the full discovery process in claims for

relief from Schreiber's defamation.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court deny

Defendants' respective motions to dismiss because Plaintiffs Second Amended Complaint states

claims as against IBRD, KPMG, Aetna and Schreiber upon which relief can be granted. Plaintiff

also respectfully requests this Court to deny KPMG's motion to sever with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: January 17,2011

Karen Hudes,

Pro Se Plaintiff

5203 Falmouth Road
Bethesda, MD 20816
cell: (202)316-0684
phone: (301)229-0058
email: kahudes@aol.com
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